# PREVALENCE OF PERIPHERAL ARTERIAL DISEASE AMONG CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE PATIENTS AT KENYATTA NATIONAL HOSPITAL

ΒY

Dr Marybeth Cherono Maritim

A dissertation submitted in part fulfilment for the degree of Master of Medicine Of the University of Nairobi 2007

> UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI MEDICAL LIBRARY

> > USE IN THE LIZERARY ONLY.

1

i



## DECLARATION

I certify that this is my own original work and has not been presented for a degree at any other university.

A no.

Dr M. C. MARITIM, MB, ChB (University of Nairobi)

This dissertation has been submitted with our approval as supervisors:

Signed:
DR M.D. JOSHI MBChB, MMed, MPH – Epi, FACC
Consultant Cardiologist and Clinical Epidemiologist, Senior Lecturer,
Department of Clinical Medicine and Therapeutics, University of Nairobi
Signed:
DR J. KAYIMA MBChB, MMed
Consultant Nephrologist, Senior Lecturer,
Department of Clinical Medicine and Therapeutics, University of Nairobi
Signed:
DR J.O. JOWLMBChB, MMed, Dip Clin Neurology
Consultant Neurologist, Chief Medical Specialist,
Kenyatta National Hospital
Signed:
DR A. AMAYO MBChB, MMed Pathology

Consultant Pathologist, Senior Lecturer,

Department of Human Pathology, University of Nairobi

ABBREVIAT	IONS	
ABI	-	Ankle-Brachial Index
BMI	-	Body Mass Index
BSA	-	Body Surface Area
CAD	-	Coronary Artery Disease
CAPRIE	-	Clopidogrel versus Aspirin in Patients at Risk of Ischemic
		Events
CHD	-	Coronary Heart Disease
CKD	-	Chronic Kidney Disease
CI	-	Confidence Interval
CrCl	-	Creatinine clearance
CRI	-	Chronic Renal Insufficiency
CRP	-	C - reactive protein
CV	-	Cardiovascular
CVD	-	Cardiovascular Disease
DBP	-	Diastolic Blood Pressure
DCCT	-	Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
ESRD	-	End-Stage Renal Disease
FPG	-	Fasting Plasma Glucose
GFR	-	Glomerular Filtration Rate
HDL	-	High Density Lipoprotein
HEMO	-	Hemodialysis
IFG	-	Impaired Fasting Glucose
K/DOQI	-	Kidney/Disease Outcome Quality Initiative
KNH	-	Kenyatta National Hospital
LDL	-	Low Density Lipoprotein
MHz	-	Megahertz
MI	-	Myocardial Infarction
Ml/min	-	millilitre/minute
Min	-	Minute
MIs	-	millilitres
NCEP/ATPIII	-	National Cholesterol Education Program/ Adult Treatment
		Panel III
NHANES	-	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
NKF	-	National Kidney Foundation
OR	-	Odds ratio
PAD	-	Peripheral Arterial Disease
PAOD	-	Peripheral Arterial Occlusive Disease
SBP	-	Systolic Blood Pressure
UKPDS	-	United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes
WHO	-	World Health Organization

iv

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSix
ABSTRACT
1. LITERATURE REVIEW11.1 CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE11.2 CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE AND CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE21.3 PAD DEFINITION/CLASSIFICATION41.4 PAD IN THE GENERAL POPULATION51.5 PERIPHERAL ARTERIAL DISEASE AND CVD RISK51.6 PAD IN CKD POPULATION61.7 RISK FACTORS FOR PAD DEVELOPMENT81.8 PAD DIAGNOSIS121.9 THE ANKLE-BRACHIAL INDEX IN PAD DETECTION121.10 INTERMITTENT CLAUDICATION14
2. JUSTIFICATION OF THE STUDY
3. OBJECTIVES
4. METHODOLOGY       17         4.1 STUDY DESIGN       17         4.2 STUDY SITE       17         4.3 STUDY POPULATION       17         4.4 CASE DEFINITION       17         4.5 PATIENT SELECTION       17         4.6 SAMPLING TECHNIQUE       18         4.7 SAMPLE SIZE       18         4.8 STUDY PERIOD       18         4.9 SCREENING AND RECRUITMENT       18
5. DATA COLLECTION.215.1 CLINICAL METHODS.215.2 LABORATORY METHODS.22
6. DEFINITION OF STUDY VARIABLES
7. DATA MANAGEMENT AND STATISTCAL ANALYSIS

8. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	
9. RESULTS	29
10. DISCUSSION	37
11. CONCLUSIONS	42
12. LIMITATIONS	43
13. RECOMMENDATIONS	44
14. REFERENCES	45
<ol> <li>APPENDIX I - SCREENING PROFORMA</li> <li>APPENDIX II - STUDY PROFORMA</li> <li>APPENDIX III - CONSENT EXPLANATION</li> </ol>	51 53 60
15. APPENDIX IV - CONSENT FORM	61

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Stages of CKD   1
Table 2: Traditional and non-traditional CVD risk factors in CKD
Table 3: PAD: ABI-based prevalence among patients with ESRD
Table 4: NKF/DOQI stages of CKD
Table 5: CKD stage of study patients
Table 6: PAD severity by ABI classification
Table 7: PAD frequency by CKD stage
Table 8: PAD and CV risk factors
Table 9: PAD and risk factor odds ratio35
Table10: 2x2 table for PAD and male gender35
Table 11: 2x2 table for PAD and diabetes    36
Table 12: Multivariate analysis for male gender and diabetes       36

vii

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Flow chart of screening and recruitment	20
Figure 2: Flowchart of enrolment	29
Figure 3: Age by gender distribution of study population	30
Figure 4: Aetiology of CKD	31

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank God who has given me life and strength each day.

I thank my supervisors - Dr Joshi, Dr Kayima, Dr Jowi and Dr Amayo for their commitment and guidance from protocol development to writing of this dissertation. I learnt so much from their attention to detail and excellence.

I thank the Kenyatta National Hospital management for the permission granted to carry out this study.

I thank the staff of renal clinic and laboratory, Kenyatta National Hospital for their assistance during the study and all the patients and their relatives for accepting to be part of this study.

I thank my research assistants Dr Wachira and Dan Kirui for work well done; Mr Oyugi for data management and Mr Miriti for his assistance.

I thank Astrazeneca for the financial assistance.

To my husband, <u>Omu</u> and daughter Alakhonya, I owe my undying gratitude for their understanding, encouragement and unwavering support.

## ABSTRACT

## Background

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a worldwide public health problem. There is a high prevalence of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in patients with CKD contributed to by presence of both traditional and non-traditional cardiovascular (CV) risk factors. Peripheral arterial disease (PAD) is a distinct atherothrombotic syndrome that is associated with an elevated risk of cardiovascular and cerebral events including myocardial infarction, stroke and death. The ankle-brachial index (ABI) is a simple, non-invasive, inexpensive and reliable measurement to assess the patency of the lower extremity arterial system with a sensitivity of 95% and specificity of 100%.

## Objectives

The aim of the study was to determine the prevalence of PAD and the associated cardiovascular risk factors among patients with CKD at the Kenyatta National Hospital.

## Design /methods

Hospital based cross-sectional prevalence study

## Setting

Kenyatta National Hospital Renal Clinic.

## Subjects

Adult patients  $\geq$ 30 years with chronic kidney disease defined as proteinuria for  $\geq$ 3 months and or a GFR </= 60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>.

## Outcome measures

- Prevalence of PAD.
- Prevalence of selected CV risk factors in patients with CKD and PAD: age, male gender, hypertension, cigarette smoking, dyslipidemia and diabetes mellitus.
- Relationship between the selected CV risk factors and PAD.
- Proportion of patients with symptomatic PAD.

Х

## Results

Between January and October 2006, 194 patients with CKD were studied, 111 males and 83 females. The underlying aetiology of CKD was diabetes in 34%, hypertension in 29%, chronic glomerulonephritis in 29%, obstructive uropathy in 6% and polycystic kidney disease in 2%. The mean GFR was  $36 \pm 24.7$  (range 1.9 - 110.1 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>) with 81.4% of the patients having advanced CKD.

Twenty-three patients had ABI <0.9 computing to a PAD prevalence of 11.9%(95% CI, 7.3- 16.4). The mean age of PAD patients was significantly higher than non-PAD counterparts (67.7 ±14.3yrs versus 50.5 ±13.6; p=0.000). PAD patients had a worse renal function compared to non-PAD patients (GFR 27.2 ± 21 versus 37.3 ± 25 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, p=0.04). All but five of the PAD patients were male and all females were aged over 55yrs.

All the PAD patients demonstrated presence of traditional CV risk factors with the majority having more than two risk factors. The commonest risk factor was age occurring in 87% followed by male gender 78%, hypertension 74%, diabetes mellitus 56%, cigarette use 47% and dyslipidemia 43%.

The odds ratios for cigarettes use, male gender, diabetes mellitus and CKD stage  $\geq$ 3 versus CKD stage <3 were on average two fold, however only the male gender and diabetes mellitus attained statistical significance. Hypertension and dyslipidemia in this data set were not associated with the presence of PAD.

On basis of the Edinburgh Claudication Questionnaire, 47.8% of PAD patients exhibited intermittent claudication.

## Conclusions

The prevalence of PAD in CKD patients at KNH was 11.9%. All the selected CV risk factors were prevalent in the PAD population in varying proportions. Of the CV risk factors assessed, male gender and diabetes mellitus were independently associated with PAD. More than half of the patients with PAD were asymptomatic.

xi

#### 1. LITERATURE REVIEW

## **1.1 CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE**

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a worldwide public health problem.<sup>1</sup> In 2002, the National Kidney Foundation (NKF) published clinical practice guidelines on evaluation, classification, and risk stratification in CKD.<sup>2</sup> In these guidelines, CKD is defined as either (1) kidney damage for  $\geq$ 3 months, as confirmed by kidney biopsy or markers of kidney damage with or without a decrease in glomerular filtration rate (GFR), or (2) GFR <60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> for  $\geq$ 3 months, with or without kidney damage. Kidney damage is ascertained by either kidney biopsy or markers of kidney damage. The finding of proteinuria is associated with a worse prognosis for both kidney disease progression and the development of cardiovascular disease (CVD).

GFR <60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> is the cut-off value for the definition of CKD<sup>2</sup>. It represents a reduction by more than half of the normal value of 125 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> in young men and women. This level of GFR is associated with onset of laboratory abnormalities characteristic of uraemia, including increased prevalence and severity of several CVD risk factors. Kidney failure is defined as GFR <15 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> or treatment by dialysis.<sup>2</sup>

In the United States, there is a rising incidence and prevalence of kidney failure, with poor outcomes and high cost. The number of individuals with kidney failure treated by dialysis and transplantation exceeded 320,000 in 1998 and is expected to surpass 650,000 by 2010. <sup>1</sup> There is an even higher prevalence of earlier stages of CKD. (Table1) <sup>2</sup>

Stage	Description	GFR, mL∙min <sup>-1</sup> per 1.73 m²	US Prevalence, 1000s	US Prevalence, %
1	Kidney damage with normal or increased GFR	≥90	5900	3.3
2	Kidney damage with mildly decreased GFR	60-89	5300	3.0
3	Moderately decreased GFR	30-59	7600	4.3
4	Severely decreased GFR	15-29	400	0.2
5	Kidney failure	<15 or dialysis	300	0.1

TABLE 1. Stages of CKD

Kidney failure requiring treatment with dialysis or transplantation is the most visible outcome of CKD. However, individuals with CKD are more likely to die of CVD than to develop kidney failure.<sup>3</sup>

## 1.2 CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE AND CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

The significant burden of CVD in CKD was recognized by Lindner et al more than 30 years ago.<sup>4</sup> Their study on the long-term outcomes of maintenance haemodialysis noted, "As the patient survival has approached the 10 year mark, there has been increasing indication that accelerated atherosclerosis may become the major unresolved problem threatening the longevity of the patients on regular maintenance dialysis".

In 1998, the NKF Task Force on Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Renal Disease issued a report emphasizing the high risk of CVD in CKD.<sup>5</sup> This report showed that there is a high prevalence of CVD in CKD and that the mortality due to CVD was 10 to 30 times higher in dialysis patients than in the general population. The task force recommended that patients with CKD be considered in the 'highest risk group' for subsequent CVD events and that treatment recommendations based on CVD risk stratification should take into account the highest -risk status of the patients with CKD. The primary types of CVD in CKD include cardiomyopathy and arterial vascular disease consisting of 2 subtypes namely atherosclerosis and arteriosclerosis (large vessel remodelling).

Atherosclerosis is an intimal disease characterized by the presence of plaques and occlusive lesions.<sup>6</sup> There is a high prevalence of atherosclerosis in CKD.<sup>7</sup> Surrogates of atherosclerosis include both intima-media thickness of the carotid wall that is detectable by ultrasound and inducible myocardial ischemia that is detectable by coronary stress tests. Clinical presentations of atherosclerosis include peripheral arterial disease, ischemic heart disease (angina, myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death) which is common in CKD, cerebrovascular disease or heart failure.

'Traditional' and 'non-traditional' cardiovascular (CV) risk factors contribute to the increased prevalence of CVD in patients with kidney disease.<sup>8</sup> Traditional CV risk factors are those derived from studies of the Framingham population while the non-traditional risk factors (also called uraemia- related risk factors) are those that increase in prevalence or severity as renal function declines. (Table 2)

TABLE 2	. Traditional	and	non-traditional	CV	risk factors	in	CKD
---------	---------------	-----	-----------------	----	--------------	----	-----

Traditional Risk Factors	Nontraditional Factors
Older age	Albuminuria
Male sex	Homocysteine
Hypertension	Lipoprotein(a) and apolipoprotein(a) isoforms
Higher LDL cholesterol	Lipoprotein remnants
Lower HDL cholesterol	Anemia
Diabetes	Abnormal calcium/phosphate metabolism
Smoking	Extracellular fluid volume overload
Physical inactivity	Electrolyte imbalance
Menopause	Oxidative stress
Family history of CVD	Inflammation (C-reactive protein)
LVH	Malnutrition
	Thrombogenic factors
	Sleep disturbances
	Altered nitric oxide/endothelin balance

In his study in 2002, Sheikh found a high prevalence of multiple CV risk factors among patients with chronic renal insufficiency (CRI) at the Kenyatta National Hospital (KNH). These factors were left ventricular hypertrophy, anaemia, hypertension and hyperhomocysteinemia in 47-77% of the patients.<sup>9</sup>

## **1.3 PAD DEFINITION / CLASSIFICATION**

Peripheral arterial disease (PAD) is a distinct atherothrombotic syndrome that is associated with an elevated risk of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events including death, myocardial infarction (MI) and stroke.

PAD can be defined on the basis of anatomical or functional considerations. Anatomically it is defined as atherosclerotic arterial disease, while functionally it is defined as arterial narrowing, causing a mismatch between the oxygen supply and demand resulting in symptoms of intermittent claudication, exercise limitations or tissue loss.

These two definitions help divide PAD into asymptomatic and symptomatic disease states. Symptomatic PAD ranges in severity from intermittent claudication to critical limb ischemia. Intermittent claudication presents as reproducible limb discomfort during exercise, which is invariably relieved within minutes by rest. Critical limb ischemia is a severe form of PAD, which if left untreated can lead to non-healing wounds, gangrene and eventual amputation.

Most cases of PAD are asymptomatic.<sup>10</sup> Asymptomatic PAD just like symptomatic PAD is associated with an increased risk of atherothrombotic events including MI and stroke,<sup>11</sup> impaired lower extremity functioning <sup>12</sup> and carotid artery stenosis.<sup>13</sup>

The Limburg Peripheral Arterial Occlusive Disease (PAOD) Study, a cross-sectional survey of 3650 patients aged 40 to 78 years found that symptomatic and asymptomatic PAD patients had a comparable risk factor and co-morbid profile.<sup>14</sup>

## **1.4 PAD IN THE GENERAL POPULATION**

Based on current epidemiological projections, 27 million people in Europe and North America (16% of the populations 55 years and older) have PAD: an estimated 10.5 million people are symptomatic while the majority, 16.5 million are asymptomatic.<sup>15</sup> Atherosclerotic PAD affects nearly 10% of men 65 years of age, increasing to 20% of men and women  $\geq$ 75 years.<sup>16</sup>

In North American patients with systolic hypertension aged >60 years, approximately 25% have ankle-brachial indices (ABIs)  $\leq 0.90.^{17}$  Intermittent claudication, the earliest symptom of PAD, has an overall prevalence of 4.5% for those aged >55 years.<sup>18</sup>

Locally, prospective study by Awori in 2004 on lower limb amputations at KNH found a significant contribution of peripheral vascular disease. 55% of the amputations were due to PVD confirmed by arteriography, of which 17.6% were related to diabetes mellitus. Majority of these patients were in the age group 31-45 years.<sup>19</sup>

## 1.5 PERIPHERAL ARTERIAL DISEASE AND CVD RISK

Patients with PAD, even in the absence of a history of myocardial infarction or ischemic stroke, have approximately the same relative risk of death from cardiovascular causes as do patients with a history of coronary or cerebrovascular disease.<sup>20</sup>

Epidemiological and clinical studies of the general population have clearly shown that PAD is a strong predictor for subsequent cardiovascular and overall mortality.<sup>17 21</sup> PAD is associated with high mortality, 3 times higher than that of the general population<sup>22</sup> even in patients without CKD and its prevalence appears to be much higher among end-stage renal disease patients as evidenced by the high amputation rates in this group compared to the general population.<sup>23</sup> PAD has not been as extensively studied as has other atherosclerotic diseases such as coronary artery disease and cerebrovascular disease especially among CKD patients.

#### **1.6 PAD IN CKD POPULATION**

PAD confers substantial risks for both morbidity and mortality in the end-stage renal disease (ESRD) population. The incidence of non-traumatic lower extremity amputation among the United States ESRD population is approximately 10 times higher than that among non-ESRD patients, even controlling for diabetes mellitus.<sup>24</sup> Dialysis patients with PAD are at increased risk for hospital admission<sup>25</sup>, death within six months after initiation of dialysis<sup>26</sup>, and death after acute myocardial infarction.<sup>27</sup> In the post-renal transplant population, PAD has been recognized as a risk factor for poor outcomes including prolonged hospitalization,<sup>28</sup> poor allograft survival rates<sup>29</sup> and increased mortality rates especially among diabetic recipients.<sup>30</sup> Amputation is the most common vascular complication after renal transplantation, occurring in 13-25% of renal allograft recipients within 5 years after transplantation.<sup>31</sup>

According to 1999 US Renal Data System data, the overall prevalence of PAD among incident ESRD was 14.9%.<sup>32</sup> The Hemodialysis (HEMO) study reported a PAD prevalence of 23% among a sample of established hemodialysis patients.<sup>33</sup> Webb et al reported a 19% prevalence of intermittent claudication among a population of 325 British patients undergoing hemodialysis.<sup>34</sup> Estimates for prevalence of PAD among renal transplant recipients range from 15 to 30%.<sup>35</sup> In these aforementioned studies, the estimation of prevalence was based on history and physical findings.

Several other studies have measured the prevalence of PAD among ESRD on the basis of ABI <0.9 and found a prevalence ranging from 16 to 38%. (Table 3)

TABLE 3. PAD: ABI-based prevalence among patients with ESRD.

Author	No. of Patients	Population	Prevalence ABI <
			0.9 (%)
Fishbane et al <sup>36</sup>	132	Hemodialysis	35
1		(USA)	
Al Zahrani et al <sup>37</sup>	60	Hemodialysis	38.3
		(Saudi Arabia)	
Testa and	226	Hemodialysis	33
Ottavioli <sup>38</sup>		(France)	
Ono et al <sup>39</sup>	774	Hemodialysis	16.6
		(Japan)	

Few studies have been done to determine the prevalence of PAD in early stages of predialysis CKD. A recently published study based on data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination survey (NHANES) 1999 to 2000 confirmed the high prevalence of PAD, 24%, defined by an ABI <0.9 among 211 patients aged 40 years and above with renal insufficiency in CKD stages 3 and  $4.^{40}$  This prevalence was much higher than that found in the general adult population using the NHANES 1999 to 2000 data where the prevalence was found to be  $4.3\%.^{41}$ 

Leskinen et al studied the prevalence of PAD using ABI in a Finnish population of 136 patients with chronic renal failure, which included 59 non-dialyzed non-transplanted patients with plasma creatinine >202mmol/L and creatinine clearance  $30 \pm 25$  ml/min. The prevalence of PAD was 22% <sup>42</sup> compared to only 1.7% in the control group with normal renal function.

Garcia et al found a PAD prevalence of 32%, in a Spanish population of 102 nondialyzed patients with CKD and CrCl <60 ml/min.<sup>43</sup> This contrasted with data published for a Spanish population of 130 essential hypertensive patients without renal insufficiency, in which only 6.9% of the sample had PAD.<sup>44</sup>

7

## 1.7 RISK FACTORS FOR PAD DEVELOPMENT

Atherosclerotic disease is diffuse in nature and there is considerable territorial overlap between cerebral, coronary and peripheral atherosclerotic disease as demonstrated by the CAPRIE study.<sup>45</sup>

Data from several surveys have been used to successfully identify and document a clinical profile of the population at risk for PAD, in whom direct screening is beneficial. Framingham Heart Study data have defined age, sex, serum cholesterol level, hypertension, tobacco use, diabetes mellitus, and coronary heart disease as factors associated with an increased risk for PAD and intermittent claudication. <sup>46</sup>

Among patients in CKD stage 5, the contribution of other non-traditional CVD risk factors such as hyperparathyroidism, chronic inflammation, hyperhomocysteinemia and apolipoprotein (a) levels has been associated with the development or progression of PAD.<sup>47</sup>

## 1.7.1: Age

The prevalence of PAD increases sharply with age, from 3% in patients younger than 60 years of age to 20% in patients older than 75%.<sup>48</sup> Data from the Framingham study revealed that the prevalence of PAD increased 10-fold from men aged 30-44 to men aged 65-74 and almost 20-fold in women in the same age groups.<sup>46</sup>

## 1.7.2: Male Gender

Analysis of the Framingham Heart Study demonstrated that male gender is a significant risk factor for the development of symptomatic PAD, although not all studies have found a similar association.<sup>46</sup>

## 1.7.3: Hypertension

The role of hypertension as a major risk factor for the development and progression of PAD is well demonstrated in the Framingham Offspring Study and the German Epidemiological Trial in ABI.<sup>49 50</sup> The Appropriate Blood Pressure Control study demonstrated a marked reduction in cardiovascular events in hypertensive PAD patients with diabetes when treated with an intensive blood pressure-lowering strategy compared with standard anti-hypertensive therapy.<sup>51</sup> In the most recent guidelines from the Joint National Committee on the Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of

Hypertension, PAD is considered equivalent in risk to ischemic heart disease, which supports the use of aggressive blood pressure control.<sup>52</sup>

## 1.7.4: Tobacco Use

The amount and duration of tobacco use correlates directly with the development and progression of PAD.<sup>53</sup> Multiple factors seem to be involved in the atherogenic effect of tobacco use: activation of the sympathetic system with resultant vasoconstriction, oxidation of low-density cholesterol, inhibition of tissue plasminogen activator release from the endothelium, increased blood fibrinogen concentration, increased platelet activity, increased expression of plaque tissue factor, and endothelial dysfunction.<sup>54</sup>

Tobacco cessation results in improved ankle pressure and exercise tolerance in patients with intermittent claudication as early as 10 months after tobacco cessation.<sup>55</sup> In addition, tobacco cessation is associated with improved postoperative arterial bypass graft patency rates.<sup>56</sup>

## 1.7.5: Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes increases the risk for atherogenesis via deleterious effects on the vessel wall (derangement of nitric oxide bioavailability in endothelial cells, stimulation of proatherogenic activity in vascular smooth muscle cells via reductions in phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase, and increases in oxidative stress and up-regulation of protein kinase C receptor for advanced glycation end-products and nuclear-kB), effects on blood cells (hypercoagulable state, enhanced platelet aggregation) and rheology (increased blood viscosity and fibrinogen levels).<sup>57</sup>

A survey of patients with diabetes 50 years of age or older demonstrated a prevalence of PAD of 29%.<sup>58</sup> In the Rotterdam study,<sup>59</sup> diabetes was present in 11.9% and 16% of male and female patients with abnormal ABI, versus 6.7% and 6.3% of those without PAD. In the Cardiovascular Health Study <sup>60</sup> diabetes was associated with a 3.8 fold increased prevalence of PAD in patients older than 65 years.

9

The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) compared intensive and conventional insulin therapy in 1441 patients with type 1 diabetes. Intensive therapy was associated with a trend toward a reduction in cardiovascular events (P=0.08) but had no effect on the risk of peripheral arterial disease.<sup>61</sup> The results were similar in 3867 patients with type 2 diabetes in the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study, which compared intensive drug treatment using sulfonylurea or insulin with dietary therapy. Intensive drug therapy was associated with a trend toward a reduction in myocardial infarction (P=0.05) but had no effect on the risk of death or amputation due to peripheral arterial disease (relative risk 0.6; 95% confidence interval, 0.4 to 1.2).<sup>62</sup> The data suggests that intensive blood glucose control in patients with either type 1 or type 2 diabetes may not favourably affect peripheral arterial disease.

## 1.7.6: Hyperlipidemia

The Lipid Research Clinics Prevalence Study<sup>63</sup> confirmed the association of dyslipoproteinemia (specifically low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and elevated low-density cholesterol) with symptoms and signs of PAD. In the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III report on detection, evaluation and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults,<sup>64</sup> PAD was considered a coronary artery risk equivalent. Data from the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study of 4,444 patients with known cardiovascular disease revealed that the use of simvastatin reduced the episodes of new or worsening intermittent claudication by 38%.<sup>65</sup>

#### 1.7.7: Hyperhomocysteinemia

Homocysteine appears to promote atherogenesis by oxidative damage to vascular endothelial cells and increased proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells. In a prospective study of patients with symptomatic PAD, for each 1.0umol/L increase in plasma homocysteine level, there was a 3.6% increase in the risk of all-cause mortality at 3 years and a 5.6% increase in the risk of cardiovascular- related death.<sup>66</sup>

Kidney patients present with hyperhomocysteinemia as a result of delayed elimination and altered metabolization. While the prevalence of hyperhomocysteinemia (plasma homocysteine levels >15 umol/L) in the general population is approximately 5%, in dialysis patients it reaches 80% to 90%.<sup>67</sup> Studies have shown that dialysis patients with the highest homocysteine levels exhibit a higher prevalence of PAD compared with patients with the lowest homocysteine levels.<sup>68</sup>

## 1.7.8: C - reactive protein

Ridker et al directly evaluated the relationship between C-reactive protein (CRP) levels and PAD. In the Physician's Health Study, 144 healthy men who subsequently developed symptomatic PAD were noted to have significantly higher baseline CRP than a group of control subjects who did not develop PAD.<sup>69</sup> An association between carotid artery atherosclerosis and CRP levels among patients with chronic renal insufficiency has been demonstrated.<sup>70</sup>

## 1.7.9: Lipoprotein (a)

Lipoprotein (a) is a risk factor for PAD in the general population. It is genetically determined. Dialysis patients have significantly higher levels of lipoprotein (a) isoforms than do individuals with normal renal function. Low molecular weight apolipoprotein (a) isoforms are associated with the presence of carotid artery plaques among hemodialysis patients.<sup>69</sup>

## 1.7.10: Hyperparathyroidism

Vascular calcification is extremely common among dialysis patients<sup>71</sup> and perhaps contributes to the development of PAD. Among patients with ESRD, abdominal aortic calcification seems to be correlated with increased calcium-phosphorus product level<sup>72</sup> while hyperphosphatemia and hyperparathyroidism have been demonstrated to be correlated with coronary, carotid and femoral artery atherosclerosis among dialysis patients.<sup>73 74</sup>

There are a number of non-invasive options that accurately diagnose PAD, including:

- Ankle-brachial index (ABI) is the gold standard to establish diagnosis and serve as a baseline measure for patient follow-up. Measurements may be taken before and after exercise to assess the dynamics of intermittent claudication.
- Toe-brachial index (TBI) may be particularly helpful in diabetics, whose disease tends to be more severe and frequently involves calcification of the media, making ABI measurements inaccurate due to the inability to compress the ankle vessels. It is technically more difficult to perform and requires use of a vascular laboratory.
- Segmental pressures and pulse volume recordings are used to measure pressures at levels in the ankle, calf, above the knee, and thigh. These are useful in diabetics with medial arterial calcification.
- Duplex and colour flow ultrasound scanning, normally reserved for patients who are scheduled for balloon angioplasty or other interventions, enables stenotic segments to be localized for treatment planning.
- MR angiography is an evolving imaging modality that is useful as a diagnostic tool, particularly in patients who cannot receive iodinated contrast agents due to renal disease.

## **1.9 THE ANKLE-BRACHIAL INDEX IN PAD DETECTION**

The ankle-brachial index (ABI) is a simple, inexpensive, reproducible, non-invasive measurement to assess the patency of the lower extremity arterial system.<sup>75</sup>

The ABI is measured by having the patient lie in the supine position with subsequent performance of the ankle and brachial blood pressure measurement using a 5 to 10 MHz hand-held Doppler device to identify the systolic blood pressure.

An appropriately sized blood pressure cuff is required. The posterior tibial and dorsalis pedis artery systolic pressures are both measured and compared with the arm pressure. The ABI value is calculated by dividing the higher of the ankle systolic pressures by the higher of the 2 systolic brachial pressures.

The impact of both inter-observer and intra-observer error on reproducibility has been quantified in a Dutch general practice based study.<sup>76</sup> The difference between two sequential ratios had to be at least 19% in order to exclude an intra-observer error.

A diagnosis of PAD is based on the presence of limb symptoms or an ABI measurement less than 0.9. A resting ABI value of 1.0 is considered normal while a resting ABI value less than 0.9 approaches 95% sensitivity in detecting angiogram positive disease, and is associated with the presence of 50% or greater stenosis in one or more major vessels. It is almost 100% specific in excluding healthy individuals.<sup>77</sup>

The ABI allows for detection of PAD at all stages of the disease process and can stratify the severity of both asymptomatic and symptomatic disease with a numerical value that can assist in guiding a treatment approach:

0.91-1.30 Normal 0.71-0.90 Mild PAD 0.41-0.70 Moderate PAD ≤0.40 Severe PAD<sup>78</sup>

Individuals with an ABI <0.9 are twice more likely to have coronary heart disease (CHD) than those with a normal ABI and have an increased risk of fatal and non-fatal MI, stroke and death from cardiovascular causes, as well as all-cause death.<sup>21</sup>

In a study to determine the relationship between ABI and morbidity and mortality in patients with PAD, the 5-year cumulative survival rates were 63% for ABI <0.50, 71% for ABI 0.50-0.69 and 91% for ABI 0.70- 0.89.<sup>79</sup>

There are some limitations of the utility of ABI in diagnosis of PAD. Firstly, older patients and those with diabetes may have stiff, calcified, non-compressible vessels and may have an ABI >1.30, even in the presence of PAD. Despite this shortcoming, the American Diabetes Association (ADA) recommends use of ABI as a screening tool in diabetics <sup>57</sup> and those with ABI >1.30 can be subjected to other diagnostic modalities.

Secondly, patients with high-grade aorto-iliac arterial stenoses or occlusions may occasionally present with a normal ABI at rest due to the presence of a rich collateral arterial network. These patients require other diagnostic tests.

13

Thirdly, congenital absence of pulses may limit the use of the ABI. The dorsalis pedis pulse is congenitally absent in approximately 10% of the population and the posterior tibial pulse is absent in less than 10% of the population.<sup>80 81</sup> Congenital absence of these pulses are commoner in Caucasians than in blacks.<sup>78</sup> An abnormal posterior tibial pulse is 71.2% sensitive and 91.3% specific for PAD, whereas an abnormal dorsalis pedis pulse is only 50% sensitive and 73.1% specific.<sup>82</sup> If no posterior tibial or dorsalis pedis pulse are found then the anterior tibial and/ or peroneal artery pulses are used for ABI measurement.

Finally, despite its usefulness in diagnosis of PAD, the ABI is unable to measure effectiveness of preventive treatment. Therefore it has a limited role in follow-up of patients with PAD.

In spite of these limitations, the ABI is the most practical, effective and accurate method of PAD detection especially in asymptomatic at risk population.

## 1.10 INTERMITTENT CLAUDICATION

This is the earliest symptom of PAD. It is usually diagnosed by a history of leg pain on exercise that is relieved by rest. Questionnaires have been developed for epidemiological use to diagnose intermittent claudication.

The WHO/Rose Questionnaire designed in 1962 by Rose <sup>83</sup> and adopted by the WHO, has a specificity of 99.8% in excluding healthy individuals and a sensitivity of 67.5% in detecting those with claudication compared with physician assessment of symptoms.

The Edinburgh Claudication Questionnaire <sup>84</sup> was validated in a study of approximately 300 patients older than 55 years who consulted their general practitioner. When compared with the independent assessment of two blinded clinicians, the questionnaire showed a sensitivity of 91% and a specificity of 99% for the diagnosis of intermittent claudication.

## 2. JUSTIFICATION OF THE STUDY

CKD patients are at risk of CVD. A previous study by Sheikh showed increased prevalence of multiple CV risk factors in the patients with CRI at KNH<sup>9</sup>.

PAD is a marker of generalized atherosclerosis and is a strong predictor for subsequent cardiovascular and overall mortality. PAD prevalence among dialysis patients is high in the West as evidenced by high rates of amputations. There is no local data on the prevalence of PAD among our CKD patients.

Relative to methods of detecting other forms of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease such as coronary angiography, ABI measurement is a simple, non-invasive procedure that can be performed easily in the outpatient setting to diagnose sub clinical atherosclerotic disease.

This study proposed to determine the prevalence of PAD in patients with CKD and the associated cardiovascular risk factors. The data generated from this study will sensitise clinicians on the magnitude of PAD in this high-risk group and the need to look out for it by measurement of the ABI. Those found to have PAD benefited from secondary prevention strategies as well as evaluation for atherosclerosis in other vascular beds – coronary and cerebral.

## 2.1 RESEARCH QUESTIONS

- 1. What is the prevalence of PAD using ABI in CKD patients at KNH?
- 2. What is the prevalence of selected CV risk factors in patients with CKD and PAD?
- 3. What is the relationship between these selected CV risk factors and PAD?
- 4. What proportions of the patients with PAD are symptomatic?

## 3. OBJECTIVES

## 3.1 Broad Objective:

To determine the prevalence of PAD and the associated CV risk factors in CKD patients.

## 3.2 Specific Objectives:

1. To determine the prevalence of PAD using the ABI among patients with CKD at KNH.

- To determine prevalence of selected CV risk factors in patients with CKD and PAD at KNH: -
  - Diabetes mellitus
  - Hypertension
  - Dyslipidemia
  - Smoking
  - Gender
  - Age
- 3. To determine the relationship between the selected CV risk factors and PAD.
- 4. To determine the proportion of patients with symptomatic PAD using the Edinburgh Claudication Questionnaire.

## 4. METHODOLOGY

## 4.1 Study Design

Hospital-based, cross-sectional prevalence survey.

## 4.2 Study Site

Kenyatta National Hospital Renal Clinic.

#### 4.3 Study Population

Adult males and females ≥30 years presenting at KNH Renal Clinic with CKD.

## 4.4 Case Definition

CKD was defined as proteinuria for  $\geq$ 3 months and or a GFR </= 60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. Proteinuria was defined by a positive dipstick urinalysis  $\geq$ 1 plus +.

GFR was calculated from serum creatinine using the Cockcroft-Gault formula and corrected to body surface area

## 4.5 Patient Selection

## 4.5.1 Inclusion Criteria

- 1. Adult patients aged ≥30 years of both sexes with a diagnosis of CKD
- 2. Signed informed consent to participate in the study.

## 4.5.2 Exclusion Criteria

- 1. Patients on renal replacement therapy (hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis).
- 2. Patients with leg ulcers, plaster casts, bandages or massive limb oedema that precluded ABI measurement.

#### 4.6 Sampling Technique

Consecutive patients who satisfied the inclusion criteria during the study period were recruited into the study. Sampling continued until desired sample size was attained.

#### 4.7 Sample Size

The minimum sample size (n) required to determine the prevalence of PAD was calculated using the formula<sup>85</sup>: -

n=  $\frac{Z^2 \Pi (1- \Pi)}{d^2}$ 

- Whereby Z value is the upper  $\alpha$  /2 point of the normal distribution, 1.96.
- Л is the assumed prevalence. Based on the Finnish study and the NHANES survey where prevalence of 22% and 24% were obtained respectively, an estimated prevalence of 24% was utilised.
- d is the precision, 0.05, with which to determine the prevalence.

Therefore n = 280 patients.

#### 4.8 Study Period

Patients were recruited over a ten-month period, between January and October 2006.

#### 4.9 Screening and Recruitment

The Principal Investigator (MM) recruited patients from KNH Renal clinic. The files for all the patients booked for the once weekly clinic were scrutinized specifically looking at the serum creatinine (screening serum creatinine) and urinalysis, done in the preceding 3 to 6 months.

Patients with a prior urinalysis result showing proteinuria and those with calculated GFR <60ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> were assessed for eligibility into the study using the screening proforma. A repeat serum creatinine and urinalysis was done on the morning of the clinic. The creatinine result was used to calculate GFR using the Cockcroft-Gault formula as follows <sup>86</sup>: -

GFR = (140-Age)(years) x body weight in kilogrammes x K

Serum creatinine (umol/L)

K = constant 1.23 men, 1.04 women

Calculated GFR was expressed per 1.73m<sup>2</sup> of body surface area by multiplying calculated values by 1.73/body surface area.

Those fulfilling the criteria for the case definition were recruited as cases if they signed the consent form administered by PI to participate in the study.

CKD staging was done using the calculated GFR/ proteinuria as shown in table 4:

#### GFR (ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>) Description Stage 1 Kidney damage with normal or ↑ GFR >90 Kidney damage with mild ↓ GFR 60 - 89 2 30 - 59 3 Moderate ↓ GFR Severe J GFR 15 - 29 4 <15 5 Kidney failure

## Table 4: NKF/ DOQI stages of CKD<sup>2</sup>

Demographic data was obtained for all the patients who had CKD as defined above (including those excluded for various reasons).

Once recruited, 2-research assistants administered the questionnaire (appendix II) under supervision by the PI. The PI performed the physical examination and ABI measurement on all the patients on the same day. Those patients who were appropriately fasted (10 -12hr overnight fast) on the day of recruitment had their blood withdrawn for measurement of fasting plasma glucose and lipid profile. Those not fasted were asked to return the following Friday to Renal clinic for withdrawal of blood samples. The cost of the all the laboratory tests as well as reimbursement of transportation cost for the revisit was met by PI.

19

## Figure 1: Flow chart of Screening and Recruitment



## 5. DATA COLLECTION

#### 5.1 Clinical Methods

A screening proforma was used to obtain demographic data and to assess eligibility of participation in the study (Appendix I). A study proforma was used to obtain demographic data and a complete medical history from the enrolled patients (Appendix II). The PI undertook comprehensive physical examination using standard procedures:-

## 5.1.1: Height

Standing height was measured once to the nearest 0.5cm barefoot, the back square against the wall tape, eyes looking straight ahead, with a set square resting on the scalp and against the wall.

## 5.1.2: Weight

Weight was measured once to the nearest 100 grams using a lever balance, barefoot, in light garments.

#### 5.1.3: Body Mass Index

The body mass index (BMI) was calculated using the World Health Organization (WHO) criteria as weight (in kilograms) divided by height (in meters) squared.

#### 5.1.4: Body Surface Area

The body surface area (BSA) was calculated using height and weight. 87

#### 5.1.5: Blood Pressure

Blood pressure was measured as per WHO recommendation,<sup>88</sup> with patient in a sitting position and using a standard adult cuff and a manual mercury sphygmomanometer, after an initial rest period of 15 minutes. The systolic blood pressure was determined by the first audible perception of the Korotkoff Sound (phase I). Diastolic blood pressure was determined by the perception of disappearance of fifth Korotkoff sound (Phase 5) or if the sound did not disappear the point at which it was muffled was used. Two measurements were undertaken at 5-minute intervals and the average of these two readings recorded.

#### 5.1.6: Ankle-Brachial Index

All patients were subjected to ABI measurement as per standard protocol. The ABI measurement was done by the PI throughout the study with training and supervision by one of the supervisors (JOJ), well trained and experienced in ABI measurement. Patients were asked to lie supine on the examination couch for at least 5 minutes before blood pressure measurement. Appropriate size blood pressure cuffs were applied to bare ankles with the midpoint of the rubber cuff over the posterior tibial artery, approximately 3 centimetres above the medial malleolus. Ankle systolic blood pressure was taken with an 8-megahertz hand-held Doppler device (Lifedop 250R-Summit Doppler) using both the dorsalis pedis and posterior tibial arteries. The maximum sound impulse determined the location of the artery. If both pulses were absent then the anterior tibial and/ or peroneal artery were used for ankle systolic pressure measurement. The brachial systolic blood pressure was taken at the cubital fossa using the brachial artery in each arm. The higher of the two arm pressures was the numerator. The right and left ABI were calculated as: -

#### Higher ankle systolic blood pressure

Higher brachial systolic blood pressure

The worst of the 2 values calculated was used to define ABI for each individual.

## 5.2 Laboratory Methods

## 5.2.1 Specimen collection and handling during screening

- 2 mls of venous blood was drawn aseptically from the antecubital fossa into a plain tube.
- 5-10 mls mid-stream urine was collected in a universal bottle.

Specimens were taken to the renal laboratory of the KNH.

Blood specimens were allowed to clot then centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 15 minutes. 1ml of serum was put into a transfer vial for creatinine estimation.

Serum creatinine was measured by the alkaline picrate method <sup>89</sup> on an auto analyser (Technicon RA 1000).

Urine specimen was mixed by gently shaking the bottle. Dipstick urinalysis was done using multistix 10SG (Bayer) throughout the study period to assess for proteinuria.

#### 5.2.2:Follow-up visit

Study subjects were instructed to observe overnight fasts (10-12 hours) before specimens were collected.

5 mls venous blood was drawn aseptically from the antecubital fossa into a lithium heparin tube. Specimens were transported to the main Biochemistry laboratory immediately.

Specimens were centrifuged at 3000rpm for 15 minutes. 1ml of plasma was collected into 3 transfer vials for biochemical analyses.

 Plasma glucose (fasting) was measured by the glucose oxidase method <sup>90</sup> on the autoanalyser (Technicon RA 1000).

Fasting lipid profile was done on the Humalyzer 3000 auto-analyser.

- Total cholesterol was estimated colorimetrically using the enzymatic hydrolysis and oxidation method.<sup>91</sup>
- Triglycerides was determined using the enzymatic hydrolysis with lipases method.<sup>91</sup>
- HDL-cholesterol was estimated using the phosphotungstic acid/ magnesium chloride precipitation method.<sup>91</sup>
- LDL-cholesterol level was calculated using the Friedewald-Fredrickson formula.<sup>92</sup>

#### 5.2.3: Quality Assurance

Commercial reagent kits were used for all biochemical assays. All analyses were performed according to manufacturer's specifications by competent technologists.

Commercial quality control materials were included in all analytical runs. Results were only accepted if control samples were within acceptable limits.

23

## 6. DEFINITION OF STUDY VARIABLES

## 6.1 DEPENDENT STUDY VARIABLE

PAD was defined by an ABI <0.9. PAD severity was classified based on the ABI <sup>78</sup> as follows:

>1.30 Noncompressible

0.91 - ≤1.30 Normal

0.71 - 0.90 Mild PAD

0.41 - 0.70 Moderate PAD

<0.40 Severe PAD.

## 6.2 INDEPENDENT STUDY VARIABLES

#### 6.2.1: Diabetes and Impaired Fasting Glucose

Study participants were considered diabetic if: -

- Self report of diabetes, or
- Use of hypoglycaemic medication, or
- Fasting plasma glucose (FPG) ≥7.0 mmol/L<sup>93</sup>

Impaired fasting glucose (IFG) was defined as FPG ranging from 6.1 mmol/L to 6.9 mmol/L.<sup>93</sup>

## 6.2.2: Hypertension

Study participants were considered hypertensive<sup>52</sup> if they had a SBP  $\geq$ 140 mmHg or a DBP  $\geq$ 90 mmHg or if they were taking antihypertensive medication.

## 6.2.3: Dyslipidemia

Study participants were classified as per NCEP/ATP III guidelines.<sup>64</sup>

Total Cholesterol	<5.17 mmol/L - Desirable
	5.17 - 6.18 mmol/L - Borderline high
	>6.21 mmol/L - High
LDL Cholesterol	<2.59 mmol/L - Optimal
	2.59 - 3.34 mmol/L - Near Optimal
	3.36 - 4.11 mmol/L - Borderline high
	4.14 - 4.89 mmol/L - High
	≥4.91 mmol/L - Very high
HDL Cholesterol	<1.03 mmol/L - Low
	<1.29 mmol/L - Optimal
	≥1.55 mmol/L - High
Triglycerides	<1.69 mmol/L - Normal
	1.69 - 2.25 mmol/L - Borderline high
	2.26 - 5.64 mmol/L - High
	≥5.65 mmol/L - Very high

Dyslipidemia was defined by any one of the following: - total cholesterol  $\geq$ 5.17 mmol/l or LDL cholesterol  $\geq$ 2.6 mmol/l or, HDL cholesterol  $\leq$ 1.03 mmol/l, or triglycerides  $\geq$ 2.26 mmol/l.

25
#### 6.2.4: Cigarette Smoking

Study participants were classified according to their smoking status: -94

- Current smokers were defined as those who had smoked at least 100 cigarettes in their lifetime and were still smoking or would have quit smoking within the preceding year.
- Former smokers were those who had smoked at least 100 cigarettes in their lifetime but would have quit smoking more than one year earlier.
- Non-smokers were those who had smoked less than 100 cigarettes in their lifetime or who had never smoked.

#### 6.2.5: Age as a CV Risk Factor

Men  $\geq$  45 years; women  $\geq$  55 years

# 7. DATA MANAGEMENT AND STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All data emanating from the study was verified cleaned and entered into data entry sheets. Statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences, version 10.0 software for windows.

Analysis involved descriptive statistics such as means, medians and standard deviation for continuous variables and frequency distributions for categorical variables, with their corresponding 95% confidence intervals. Comparisons for continuous data were made using the t test, and of categorical data using the chi-square test.

Prevalence was calculated as number of patients with PAD divided by the total number of patients and expressed as a percentage with 95% confidence interval.

Prevalence rates of risk factors were calculated as percentages with 95% confidence intervals.

Multivariate analysis was performed in order to investigate independent associations between risk factors (hypertension, smoking, age, and diabetes mellitus) and PAD.

The level for statistical significance was  $P \leq 0.05$ .

# 8. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The study was conducted after approval by the Department of Clinical Medicine and Therapeutics, University of Nairobi, and the Kenyatta National Hospital Scientific and Ethical Review Committee.

A detailed written (and verbal) consent explanation was given to the study subjects (Appendix III)

In the event of a favourable response, the patient was requested to sign an informed consent form (Appendix IV)

#### 9. RESULTS

1904 outpatients attending KNH Renal Clinic were screened over a 10-month duration between 3<sup>rd</sup> January and 5<sup>th</sup> October 2006, of which 216 (11.3 %) met study inclusion criteria; 22 (10.1%) were excluded and thus 194 included. Majority (90%) of the 1688 patients who did not meet inclusion criteria were non-CKD while the rest were CKD under 30 years. The desired sample size was 280 CKD patients to identify at least 70 PAD patients. Sample size calculation was predicated on PAD prevalence with an estimated prevalence of 24 %( from the literature). There was a shortfall in desired sample' occasioned by an enrolment rate that was a third of the anticipated. KNH Registry data for January to December 2005 indicated that 199 patients had a diagnosis of chronic renal failure. Over a 10-month period 216 patients were found to have CKD (Figure 2).

#### Figure 2: Flow chart of enrolment

1904 re	enal	patients	scr	eeneo	$\rightarrow$	1688	patie	nts		
						1520	) non-	CK	D	
						168	CKD	<30	) y	ears
$\downarrow$										
	-									

216 CKD patients eligible → 22 patients excluded 13 no consent 5 massive leg oedema ↓ 4 large leg ulcers

194 patients enrolled

# 9.1 DEMOGRAPHICS OF EXCLUDED PATIENTS

Of the 22 patients excluded, 13 males (59.1%) and 9 females (40.9%) and their mean age was  $52.05 \pm 13.3$  (range 30 –84) years.13 (59%) were excluded for non-consent, 9 (41%) due to ABI measurement technicalities (massive oedema in 5 and large leg ulcer in 4 patients).

The excluded patients did not differ from included patients with regards to age and gender.

# 9.2 DEMOGRAPHICS OF STUDY PATIENTS

Mean age of study subjects was 51.96 +/- 14.18 (range 30-84) years and 111 (57.2%) males and 83 (42.8%) females. 78.9% of study patients were married, 53.1% had at least primary education and 61.8% had no source of income, as they were retired or unemployed.

The study patients were grouped into 3 age-by-gender groups. The study patients were equally distributed in the 3 age categories. Females however predominated the 30 - 44 year age group, while males predominated in the >59 year age group. The male to female ratio in age group >44 - 59 years was 1:1 (Figure 3)



#### Figure 3: Age by gender distribution of study population

# 9.3 AETIOLOGY OF CKD

The cause of CKD was obtained from patients case records. Majority (34%) had diabetes mellitus. Hypertension and chronic glomerulonephritis were equally distributed and contributed to 29% of CKD each. (Figure 4)

# 6% 2% 29% 34% Diabetes 29% Chronic Glomerulonephritis 0bstructive uropathy 29% Polycystic kidney disease

#### Figure 4: Aetiology of CKD

# 9.4 DISTRIBUTION OF PATIENTS ACCORDING TO CKD STAGE

Study patients were classified into CKD stage 1 - 5 as per NKF/ DOQI classification <sup>2</sup> on the basis of the calculated GFR corrected to body surface area and this is depicted in table 5. The frequency distribution of study subjects by CKD stage was 2.1%, 16.5%, 34.5%, 22.2% and 24.7% in stage 1,2,3,4 and 5 respectively; with 80% having advanced CKD stage  $\geq$ 3 (GFR </= 60 mls/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>). The mean GFR of the study population was 36 ± 24.7 (range 1.9 - 110.1 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>)

#### Table 5: CKD stage of study patients

CKD stage	Description	GFR (ml/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )	No	%
1	Kidney damage with normal or ↑ GFR	>90	4	2.1
2	Kidney damage with mild $\downarrow$ GFR	60-89	32	16.5
3	Moderate ↓ GFR	30-59	67	34.5
4	Severe ↓ GFR	15-29	43	22.2
5	Kidney failure	<15 or dialysis	48	24.7
Total			194	100

# 9.5 ABI RESULTS

# 9.5.1 ABI measurement

All the study patients underwent successful ABI measurement, however. Two (1%) patients had ABI>1.3 and therefore could not be classified as having or not having PAD and were subsequently excluded from all subsequent analysis. 23 patients had ABI < 0.9. computing to a PAD prevalence of 11.9% (95% CI, 7.3 – 16.4). Mean age of PAD patients was significantly higher than non-PAD counterparts (67.7 ± 14.3yrs versus  $50.5 \pm 13.6$ ; p=0.000).

All but five of the PAD patients were male and all females were aged over 55yrs.

### 9.5.2 PAD severity

The study patients were classified into PAD severity categories on basis of the ABI measurements. (Table 6) 3 (1.5%) had severe PAD, 10 (5.2%) moderate PAD and 10 (5.2%) mild PAD.

# Table 6: PAD severity by ABI classification

PAD severity by ABI	No.	%
Severe PAD (ABI ≤0.40)	3	1.5
Moderate PAD (ABI 0.41-0.70)	10	5.2
Mild PAD (ABI 0.71-0.90)	10	5.2
Normal (ABI 0.91-≤ 1.30)	169	87.1
Incompressible (ABI>1.3)	2	1
Total	194	100

# 9.5.3 PAD and CKD stage

Majority of PAD patients had advanced CKD disease, with 74% in stage 4 and 5, and 90% in stage 3 and above as depicted in (Table 7). PAD patients had a worse renal function compared to non-PAD patients (GFR 27.2  $\pm$  21 versus 37.3  $\pm$  25 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, p=0.04).

# Table 7: PAD Frequency by CKD stage

CKD stage	No	%
1	0	0
2	2	8.7
3	4	17.4
4	11	47.8
5	6	26.1
Total	23	100

# 9.5.4: CV RISK FACTORS IN PAD

Excluding the presence of CKD, all patients with PAD demonstrated presence of selected CV risk factors with the majority having more than two risk factors. The frequency of risk factor occurrence is depicted in table 8. The commonest risk factor was age occurring in 87% followed by male gender 78%, hypertension 74%, diabetes mellitus 56%, cigarette use 47% and dyslipidemia 43%.

Risk factors	Frequency	%
Female ≥ 55 years	5	86.95
Male $\ge$ 45 years	15	00.90
Male gender -	18	78.3
Hypertension	17	73.9
Diabetes	13	56.5
Cigarette smoking	11	47.8
Dyslipidemia	10	43.5
Total	89	100

# Table 8: PAD and CV risk factors

# 9.5.5: PAD Risk Factor Odds Ratio

As a measure of the magnitude of the relationship between PAD and the risk factors, the probability of risk factor presence in PAD patients relative to the converse probability was determined on univariate analysis using the odds ratio (OR) estimation and chi-square test. These results are depicted in (Table 9)

# Table 9: PAD risk factor odds ratio

Risk factor	Odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Male/ female	3.02 (1.07 – 8.5)	0.03
DM/ no DM	2.41 (0.99 - 5.8)	0.046
Cigarette smoking/ no cig. Smoking	2.04 (0.85 - 4.92)	0.107
Age male≥ 45 years/ < 45 years	2.3 (0.61 – 8.44)	0.213
HTN/ no HTN	0.9 (0.35 – 2.57)	0.922
Dyslipidemia/ no dyslipidemia	0.6 (0.27 – 1.55)	0.325
CKD stage ≥3/ CKD stage <3	2.61 (0.58 – 11.66)	0.195

The odds ratios for cigarettes smoking, male gender, diabetes mellitus and CKD stage  $\geq$ 3 versus CKD stage <3 were on average two fold, however only the male gender and diabetes mellitus attained statistical significance (Tables 10 and 11). Hypertension and dyslipidemia in this data set were not associated with the presence of PAD.

# Table 10: 2x2 table for PAD and male gender

			PAD			2
		Yes		Νο		
Gender	Male	18 (78.3%)		93 (54.4%)		111 (57.2%)
	Female	5 (21.7%)		78 (45.6%)		83 (42.8%)
Total		23		171		194
$\chi^2 = 4.72$	1	df =1	p =0.0	3	OR=3.	019(1.072-8.504)

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI MEDICAL LIBRARY

35

С

#### Table 11: 2x2 table for PAD and diabetes

×.		PAD				
		Yes		No		
Diabetes	Yes	13 (56.5%)	6	60 (35.1%)		73 (37.6%)
	No	10 (43.5. %)	1	11 (64.9%)		121 (62.4%)
Total		23	1	71		194
χ2 =3.968		df =1	p =0.04	6	OR=2	2.405(0.995-5.811)

#### 9.5.6 Multivariate analysis

Multivariate analysis was carried out to determine risk factors independently associated with the presence of PAD among those that were significant at univariate analysis, namely male gender (p = 0.03) and diabetes (p = 0.046). Male gender and diabetes were found to be independently associated with PAD, p = 0.035 and p = 0.05 respectively with unaffected odds ratios 3.0 and 2.5 respectively. (Table 12)

#### Table 12: Multivariate analysis for male gender and diabetes

			r the Equat			
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)
Step 1 DIAB	.896	.456	3.853	1	.050	2.450
GENDER	1.122	.533	4.431	1	.035	3.070
Constant	868	.984	.777	1	.378	.420

Variables in the Equation

a. Variable(s) entered on step 1: DIAB, GENDER.

#### 9.6 SYMPTOMATIC PAD

On basis of the Edinburgh Claudication Questionnaire 52% (12) were asymptomatic and 11(47.8%) of PAD patients exhibited intermittent claudication.

#### 10. DISCUSSION

Knowledge on the prevalence of PAD in patients with pre-dialysis CKD is limited because of the previous lack of uniformity in CKD definition and recognition. In 2002, the NKF issued new guidelines on definition and classification of CKD<sup>2</sup>, which are currently in use. This study set out to determine the prevalence of PAD in CKD using this new classification.

In this study, 194 CKD patients were enrolled. Males comprised 57.2% and the male to female ratio was 1.3:1. A study by Sheikh<sup>9</sup> looking at CV risk factors among CRI patients at the hospital found similar gender predominance. In his study, males were 71% and the male to female ratio was 2.5:1. Reasons for this gender predominance may be related to gender bias in health-seeking behaviour, socio-economic variability affecting access to healthcare in a tertiary hospital as well as gender bias in aetiologic background to the CKD. Male gender has been shown to be a risk factor for development of CKD.<sup>8</sup> The implication of finding is that over 50% of the study population had male gender as a non-modifiable CV risk factor.

The mean age of the overall CKD population was 51.96 years. This was similar to that found by Sheikh<sup>9</sup> where the mean age was 52.7 years. On the whole, the average age of the patients was stgnificantly younger than that seen in European and American studies in CKD population.<sup>40 42 43</sup> This difference in age could be explained by the fact that our CKD population is significantly younger than the western population. Life expectancy and quality of healthcare in developed countries also contributes to this observed difference. Among the Caucasian population, CKD mainly develops as a complication of diabetes and hypertension <sup>95</sup> while in Africa CKD is mainly due to post-infectious chronic glomerulonephritis, which affects the younger age group.

There were 3 main aetiologies of CKD in the study population – diabetes (34%), chronic glomerulonephritis (29%) and hypertension (29%) with diabetes dominating the other two aetiologies. This distribution of aetiologies is in contrast to that described in 2 local studies. Sheikh <sup>9</sup>, studying a similar population found the causes to be chronic glomerulonephritis in 36.1%, hypertension in 31.3% and diabetes in 28.9%. Sheikh's findings were similar to that described earlier by Kayima <sup>96</sup> where chronic

glomerulonephritis was 36%, hypertension was 23% and diabetes was 23%. The main reason for this difference is that patients younger than 30 years were excluded from our study. Post-infectious chronic glomerulonephritis is a common cause of renal failure in the younger patients who were excluded. The older patients develop renal failure as complications of longstanding hypertension or diabetes and these were the patients enrolled into the study. There is an increasing prevalence of diabetes mellitus in the developing world <sup>97</sup> and this could partly explain the predominance in this study. Majority (63%) of the study population had both diabetes and hypertension as a cause of the CKD as well as contributing adversely to their CVD risk.

ABI measurements were obtained for all the enrolled patients. 23 patients had ABI <0.9 giving a PAD prevalence of 11.9% in patients with CKD stage 1-5. This is relatively much lower than that described in other studies done in the west in patients with advanced pre-dialysis CKD (GFR < 60 ml/min/1.73 $m^2$ ). One of these studies recently published from Spain. <sup>43</sup> included 102 CKD patients in stage 3 –5, referred for the first time to a nephrology clinic, and without a prior diagnosis of PAD. ABI revealed that 32% of the patients suffered from PAD. This prevalence is similar to that observed in dialysis patients <sup>23</sup> but is much higher than in our study population. Using a subgroup of 2229 patients of NHANES, a 24% PAD prevalence rate was observed in patients with estimated GFR < 60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> versus a prevalence rate of 3.7% in patients with GFR >  $60 \text{ml/min}/1.73 \text{m}^{2}$ <sup>40</sup> These results could differ from our study because of patient characteristics, such as age, that contribute to PAD. The mean age of the patients was 70 $\pm$  11 years in the Spanish study <sup>43</sup> and 76.1 $\pm$  1.1 years in the NHANES survey,  $^{40}$  therefore, the patients were older than in our population (51.96± 14.18) years). Another study <sup>42</sup> that included younger patients (55.7 $\pm$  11.4 years) and a mean GFR of 30 ml/min reported a prevalence rate of 22% that was slightly lower than for the 2 other studies. Another possible explanation for the difference in PAD prevalence is that these other studies enrolled patients with advanced CKD. These are patients with increased prevalence and severities of several adverse CVD risk factors that include both the traditional and non-traditional factors (uraemia-related factors). Sheikh's study <sup>9</sup> documented a high prevalence of these non-traditional risk factors among patients with advanced CRI at KNH. Our study included patients in non-advanced CKD stage 1 and 2 where these non-traditional factors may have been absent and this may explain the difference in the prevalence. Finally, the duration of CKD and quality of interventions may influence the development and prevalence of PAD. It is known that

CKD progresses faster in black patients than their white counterparts as a result there are shorter exposure to adverse risk factors. This may contribute to the relatively low prevalence. Longer survival of patients with CKD in the west <sup>95</sup> results in more comorbid hypertension and diabetes, which are adverse CV risk factors. Older age, male gender, diabetes, hypertension and proteinuria have been shown to be risk factors for both CVD and CKD.<sup>8</sup>

2(1%) patients had ABI >1.3 (incompressible). This suggests the presence of medial arterial calcification (MAC) also described as Monckeberg arteriosclerosis. This could slightly affect the sensitivity but not specificity to detect PAD.

PAD severity was determined using ABI categories. Of the 23 patients with PAD, 43.5% had mild PAD (ABI 0.71 - 0.90), 43.5% had moderate PAD (ABI 0.41 - 0.70) and 13% had severe PAD (ABI  $\leq$ 0.40). In a study by Sikkink <sup>79</sup> to determine the relationship between ABI and morbidity/mortality in patients with PAD, the 5-year cumulative survival rates were 63% for ABI <0.50, 71% for ABI 0.50 - 0.69 and 91% for ABI 0.70 -0.89. These data therefore suggest that 43.5% of our patients with ABI 0.71 - 0.90 have a presumptive 5-year cumulative survival rate of 91% while those with ABI below this have a presumptive 5-year cumulative survival rate of 63 - 71%. A recent study <sup>98</sup> studied mortality 1 year after diagnosis of severe PAD in 5787 patients with diverse degrees of renal function. In patients with an estimated GFR < 30 ml/min, the 1-year mortality was 44%. After adjusting for age, diabetes mellitus and previous cardiovascular events the risk of death in patients with similar degrees of PAD was 2.9 times higher than in patients with GFR < 60 ml/min versus the group with GFR > 60 ml/min. This confirms the great mortality rate among renal patients that suffer PAD.

The 23 PAD patients were classified into CKD stage 1 - 5 and 91.3% had advanced CKD (stage 3 - 5). PAD patients had a worse renal function compared to non-PAD patients (GFR 27.2  $\pm$  21 versus 37.3  $\pm$  25 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, p=0.04). This may be explained by the clustering of CV risk factors as well as the contribution of non-traditional (uraemia-related) risk factors. Potential pathophysiologic mechanisms by which decreased creatinine clearance might predispose to PAD include altered calcium-phosphate product, homocysteine, and lipoprotein (a) metabolism and alterations in inflammatory and coagulation pathways<sup>47</sup>.

All the PAD patients demonstrated presence of traditional CVD risk factors with the majority having more than two risk factors. The commonest risk factor was age occurring in 87%, followed by male gender 78%, hypertension 74%, diabetes mellitus 56%, cigarette use 47% and dyslipidemia 43%. The odds ratio for cigarette use, male gender and diabetes mellitus were on average two fold while that for male gender as a risk factor was three fold. Of the traditional risk factors assessed, male gender and diabetes mellitus were independently associated with PAD. Hypertension and dyslipidemia were not associated with presence of PAD.

The proportion of PAD patients with diabetes mellitus was 56.5%. In the Spanish study<sup>43</sup>, 26% of the patients with PAD had diabetes mellitus. An association was found between diabetes mellitus and PAD. It is known that diabetics have a greater burden of other atherogenic risk factors than non-diabetics, including hypertension, hypertriglyceridemia, increased total-to-HDL cholesterol ratio, and elevated plasma fibrinogen. A local study on diabetics described the prevalence of hypertension at 64.8%, dyslipidemia at 93.5%, and a clustering of at least two cardiovascular risk factors (excluding the diabetes itself) in all patients.<sup>99</sup>

This study did not show significant association of PAD with cigarette use. The literature has shown that smoking is associated with both development and progression of PAD.<sup>100</sup> Patients with PAD who continue to smoke have a higher risk of disease progression than patients who stop smoking. It is also equally important to note that smoking is reported as a habit rather than the magnitude of cigarette smoking. A higher risk of vasculopathy certainly occurs with a larger number of cigarettes smoked. <sup>100</sup> The study design did not capture quantitative aspects of cigarette smoking. Possible explanations for the negative association in this study include a chance finding occasioned by a small sample size.

Traditionally, elevated LDL has been the main dyslipidemia associated with atherosclerosis<sup>64</sup>, with widespread response to therapy<sup>65</sup>. This apparent lack of association of dyslipidemia with PAD is probable on the generalization of dyslipidemia. CKD is more associated with hypertriglyceridemia <sup>101</sup>, which has not been conclusive associated with PAD. The predominant dyslipidemia in this study was hypertriglyceridemia in 51.3% of the patients. The negative association was occasioned by a small sample size.

The proportion of PAD patients with hypertension was 73.9%. This study did reveal a high prevalence of hypertension among all the CKD patients, 74.7%. Majority of these patients were on optimal treatment. Hypertension is a well-established risk factor for PAD. This negative association in this study was occasioned by the small sample size. Intervention in form of treatment of hypertension probably contributed to the lack of association.

Of the patients with PAD, 47.8% presented a clinical picture compatible with intermittent claudication. In the Spanish study <sup>43</sup> 30% of the PAD patients had intermittent claudication. Several epidemiological studies have shown that majority of PAD patients are asymptomatic therefore symptoms alone are not useful in excluding PAD. In our study, more than half of the patients with PAD were asymptomatic. It is known that asymptomatic PAD just like symptomatic PAD is associated with an increased risk of atherothrombotic events including MI and stroke <sup>11</sup>, impaired lower extremity functioning <sup>12</sup> and carotid artery stenosis <sup>13</sup>. Painful neuropathy (common in diabetes and uremia) is a cause of "pseudoclaudication" hence the symptom of calf pain may not be a useful aspect to emphasize on. ABI measurement is a non-invasive, simple, inexpensive, reproducible and reliable tool for subclinical PAD and as shown in our study it improved the pick up rate for PAD by 50%.

# 11. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. There was a low prevalence of PAD among CKD patients aged 30 years and above at KNH.
- Majority of the PAD patients had mild to moderate PAD and were in advanced CKD stage 3 - 5.
- 3. All the selected CV risk factors were prevalent in the PAD population with most patients having more than two risk factors.
- 4. Male gender and diabetes mellitus were independently associated with PAD.
- 5. More than half of the patients with PAD were asymptomatic.

# 12. LIMITATIONS

- 1. Failure to achieve the desired sample size.
- 2. The ability to discern association between PAD and risk factors was limited by a small number of patients with PAD.
- 3. Cross-sectional study may not bring out associations in on-going disease process.

# 13. RECOMMENDATIONS

- 1. There is need to actively look for PAD using ABI in patients with CKD without relying on symptoms as more than half are asymptomatic.
- 2. Patients with diabetes, male gender and those with CKD stage 3 5 should have regular ABI measurement as they are of the highest risk for PAD. Early aggressive management including risk factor modification should be done to improve outcome in this high-risk group. Other traditional CV risk factors though not demonstrated in this study to be associated with PAD, should be modified.
- Further population-based studies are required to determine the prevalence of PAD in the general population in view of the relatively low prevalence rate found in this study among high-risk patients.

#### 14. <u>REFERENCES</u>

<sup>1</sup> National Institutes of Health and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. US Renal Data System, USRDS 1998 Annual Data Report. Bethesda, Md: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 1998.

<sup>2</sup> National Kidney Foundation. K/DOQI Clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease : evaluation, classification and stratification. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2002; 39 (2 suppl 1) : S1-S266.

<sup>3</sup> Shulman NB, Ford CE, Hall WD, *et al.* Prognostic value of serum creatinine and effect of treatment of hypertension on renal function: results from the hypertension detection and follow-up program. The Hypertension Detection and Follow-up Program Cooperative Group. *Hypertension.* 1989; 13 ( 5 suppl) : I 80-I 93.

<sup>4</sup> Lindner A, Charra B, Sherrard DJ, Scribner BH. Accelerated atherosclerosis in prolonged maintenance. hemodialysis. N Engl J Med 1974; 290: 697 -701.

<sup>5</sup> Levey AS, Beto JA, Coronado BE, *et al.* Controlling the epidemic of cardiovascular disease in chronic renal disease : What do we know? What do we need to learn? Where do we go from here? National Kidney Foundation Task Force on Cardiovascular Disease. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 1998 ; 32: 853 -906.

<sup>6</sup> London GM, Marchais SJ, Guerin AP, *et al.* Arterial structure and function in end-stage renal disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2002; 17: 1713 -1724.

<sup>7</sup> Tonelli M, Bohm C, Pandeya S, *et al.* Cardiac risk factors and the use of cardioprotective medications in patients with chronic renal insufficiency. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2001; 37: 484 -489.

<sup>8</sup> Sarnak MJ, Levey AS. Cardiovascular disease and chronic renal disease: a new paradigm. Am J *Kidney Dis.* 2000; 35 (4 suppl 1): S 117 -S 131.

<sup>9</sup> Sheikh N. Cardiovascular risk factors associated with chronic renal insufficiency in black patients as seen at the Kenyatta National Hospital. M. Med Dissertation 2003 (CHS,UON,Dept of Medicine).

<sup>10</sup> Meijer WT, Hoes AW, Rutgers D, Bots MI, Hoffman A, Grobbee DE. Peripheral arterial disease in the elderly: the Rotterdam study. *Arterioscl. Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998; 18: 185-192.

<sup>11</sup> Criqui MH, Denenberg JO. The generalized nature of atherosclerosis: how peripheral arterial disease may predict adverse events from coronary artery disease. *Vasc Med* 1998; 3:241-245.

<sup>12</sup> McDermott MM, Fried L, Simonsick E, Ling S, Guralnik JM. Asymptomatic peripheral arterial disease independently associated with impaired lower extremity functioning. The Women's Health and Aging Study. *Circulation* 2000; 101: 1007-1017.

<sup>13</sup> Simons PC, Algra A, Eikelboom BC, Grobee DE, Van der Graaf Y; for the SMART STUDY GROUP. Carotid artery stenosis in patients with peripheral arterial disease: the SMART study. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 1999; 30: 519-525.

<sup>14</sup> Hooi JD, Stoffers HE, Kester AD, *et al.* Risk factors and cardiovascular disease with asymptomatic peripheral arterial occlusive disease: the Limburg Peripheral Arterial Occlusive Disease (PAOD) Study. *Scand J. Prim Healthcare* 1998; 16:177-182.

<sup>15</sup> Weitz JI, Byrne J, Clagett GP, *et al.* Diagnosis and treatment of chronic arterial insufficiency of the lower extremities: a critical review. *Circulation* 1996; 94: 3026-3049.

<sup>16</sup> Criqui MH, Fronek A, Barrett-Conor E, Klauber Mr, Gabriels, Goodman D. The prevalence of peripheral arterial disease in a defined population. *Circulation* 1985; 71:510-515.

<sup>17</sup> Newman AB, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Vogt MT, Kuller LH. Morbidity and mortality in hypertensive adults with a low ankle/arm blood pressure index. *JAMA* 1993; 270: 487-488.

<sup>18</sup> Tasc Working Group. Management of peripheral arterial disease. *J Vasc Surg* 2000; 31 (1 Suppl): SI-S296.

<sup>19</sup> Awori, KO. Assessment of the outcome of lower limb amputations as seen in Kenyatta National Hospital. A one year prospective study. M.Med Thesis, 2004. CHS, UON, Dept of Surgery.

<sup>20</sup> Newman AB, Shemanski L, Manolio TA, *et al.* Ankle-arm index as a predictor of cardiovascular disease and mortality in the Cardiovascular Heart Study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1999; 19: 538-545.

<sup>21</sup> Leng GC, Lee AJ, Fowkes FG, Whiteman M, Dunbar J, Housley E, Ruckley CV. Incidence, natural history and cardiovascular events in symptomatic and asymptomatic peripheral arterial disease in the general population. *Int. J. Epidemiol* 1996; 25: 1172-1181.

<sup>22</sup> Criqui MH, Langer RD, Fronek A. Mortality over a period of 10 years in patients with peripheral arterial disease. N Engl J. Med. 1992; 326: 381-386.

<sup>23</sup> O'hare A, Johansen K. Lower extremity peripheral arterial disease among patients with end-stage renal disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2001; 12: 2838-2847.

<sup>24</sup> Eggers PW, Gohdes D, Pugh J. Nontraumatic lower extremity amputations in the Medicare end-stage renal disease population. *Kidney Int* 1999; 56: 1524-1533.

<sup>25</sup> Rocco MV, Soucie JM, Reboussin DM, *et al.* Risk factors for hospital utilization in chronic dialysis patients: Southeastern Kidney Council (Network 6). *J Am Soc Nephrol* 1996; 7:889-896.

<sup>26</sup> Barret BJ, Parfrey PS, Morgan J *et al*. Prediction of early death in end-stage renal disease patients starting dialysis. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1997; 29: 214-222.

<sup>27</sup> Chertow GM, Normand SL, Silva LR. Survival after acute myocardial infarction in patients with endstage renal disease: Results from the Co-operative Cardiovascular Project. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2000; 35: 1044-1051.

<sup>28</sup> Matas AJ, Gillingham KJ, Elick BA, Dunn DL *et al.* Risk factors for prolonged hospitalization after kidney transplants. *Clin Transplant* 1997; 11: 259-264.

<sup>29</sup> Cho YW, Terasaki PI. Impact of new variables reported to the UNOS registry. *Clin Transplant* 1997; 1: 305-314.

<sup>30</sup> Lemmers MJ, Barry JM. Major role for arterial disease in morbidity and mortality after kidney transplant in diabetic recipients. *Diabetes Care* 1991; 14:295-301.

<sup>31</sup> Manske CL, Wilson RF, Wang Y, *et al.* Atherosclerotic vascular complications in diabetic transplant candidates. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1997; 29: 601-607.

<sup>32</sup> United States Renal Data System. Annual Data Report. Bethesda, MD, National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, Division of Kidney, Urologic and Hematologic Disease, 2000 pp 339-348.

<sup>33</sup> Cheung AK, Sarnak MJ, Yan G, Dwyer JT *et al.* Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risks in chronic hemadialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* 2000; 58:353-362.

<sup>34</sup> Webb AT, Frank PJ, Reaveley DA, Green Halgh RM, Brown EA. Prevalence of intermittent claudication and risk factors for its development in patients on renal replacement therapy. *Eur J Vasc Surg* 1993; 7:523-527.

<sup>35</sup> Kasiske BL, Guijarro C, Massy ZA *et al.* Cardiovascular disease after renal transplantation. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 1996; 7: 158-165.

<sup>36</sup> Fishbane S, Youn S, Flaster E *et al.* Ankle - arm blood pressure index as a predictor of mortality in hemodialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 1996; 27: 668-672.

<sup>37</sup> Al Zahrani HA,Albar HMS, Bahnassi A, Abdulaal AA. The distribution of peripheral arterial disease in a defined population of elderly high-risk Saudi patients. *Int Angiol*.1997;16:123-128.

<sup>38</sup> Testa A, Ottavioli JN. Ankle-arm blood pressure index (AABPI) in hemodialysis patients. *Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss* 1998; 91:963-965

<sup>39</sup> Ono K, Yano S, Nojima Y. Ankle-arm blood pressure index as a marker of atherosclerosis in hemodialysis patients (Abstract) *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2000; 11: A1535.

<sup>40</sup> O'hare A, Gliden DV, Fox CS, Hsu Y. High prevalence of peripheral arterial disease in persons with renal insufficiency. Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2000. *Circulation* 2004; 109: 320-323.

<sup>41</sup> Selvin E, Erlinger TP. Prevalence of and risk factors for peripheral arterial disease in the United States. Results from the National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey, 1999-2000. *Circulation* 2004; 110: 738-743.

<sup>42</sup> Leskinen Y, Salenium JP, Lehtimakit T, *et al.* The prevalence of peripheral arterial disease and medial arterial calcification in patients with chronic renal failure: Requirements for diagnostics. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2002; 40:472-479.

<sup>43</sup> Garcia de Vinuesa S, Ortega M, Martinez P, *et al*. Subclinical peripheral arterial disease in patients with chronic kidney disease: Prevalence and related risk factors. Kidney Int. 2005; 67:S44-S47.

<sup>44</sup> Roldan C, Campo C,Segura J, *et al.* Inpacto del índice tobillo-brazo sobre la estratificación del riesgo cardiovascular de pacientes hipertensos. *Hipertensión* 2004; 21: 66-70.

<sup>45</sup> CAPRIE STEERING COMMITTEE: A randomised, blinded trial of Clopidogrel versus Aspirin in Patients at Risk of Ischemic Events (CAPRIE). *Lancet* 1996; 348: 1329-1339.

<sup>46</sup> Murabito JM, D'Agostino RB, Silbershatz H, Wilson WF. Intermittent claudication: a risk profile from the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 1997; 96: 44 -49.

<sup>47</sup> Cheung AK, Sarnak MJ, Yan G, Dwyer JT, Heyka RJ *et al.* Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risks in chronic hemodialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* 2000; 58: 353-362.

<sup>48</sup> Criqui MH, Denenberg JO, Langer RD, Fronek A. The epidemiology of peripheral arterial disease: importance of identifying the population at risk. *Vasc Med* 1997; 2:221-226.

<sup>49</sup> Murabito JM, Evans JC, Nieto K, Larson MG, Levy D, Wilson PW. Prevalence and clinical correlates of peripheral arterial disease in the Framingham Offspring Study. *Am Heart J* 2002; 143: 961- 965.

<sup>50</sup> Diehm C, Schuster A, Allenberg JR, *et al.* High prevalence of peripheral arterial disease and cormorbidity in 6880 primary care patients: cross-sectional study. *Atherosclerosis* 2004; 172: 95-105.

<sup>51</sup> Mehler PS, Coll JR, Estacio R, Esler A, Schrier RW, Hiatt WR. Intensive blood pressure control reduces the risk of cardiovascular events in patients with peripheral arterial disease and type 2 diabetes. *Circulation* 2003; 107: 753 -756.

<sup>52</sup> Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, et al. The seventh report of the joint national committee on the prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure. JAMA 2003; 289: 2560 -2572.

<sup>53</sup> Freund KM, Belanger AJ, D'Agostino RB, *et al.* The health risks of smoking: the Framingham Study: 34 years of follow-up. *Ann Epidemiol* 1993; 3: 417-424.

<sup>54</sup> Newby DE, Wright RA, Labinjoh C, *et al.* Endothelial dysfunction, impaired endogenous fibrinolysis, and cigarette smoking: a mechanism for arterial thrombosis and myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 1999; 99: 1411-1415.

<sup>55</sup> Quick CR, Cotton LT. The measured effect of stopping smoking on intermittent claudication. *Br J Surg* 1982; 69 (suppl): S24-S26.

<sup>56</sup> Ameli FM, Stein M, Provan JL, Prosser R. The effect of postoperative smoking on femoropopliteal bypass grafts. *Ann Vasc Surg* 1999; 3: 20-25.

<sup>57</sup> American Diabetes Association. Peripheral arterial disease in people with diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2003; 26: 3333 -3341.

<sup>58</sup> Hirsch AT, Criqui MH, Treat-Jacobson D, *et al.* Peripheral arterial disease detection, awareness and treatment in primary care. *JAMA* 2001; 286: 1317 -1324.

<sup>59</sup> Meijer WT, Grobbee DE, Hunink MG, Hofman A, Hoes AW. Determinants of peripheral arterial disease in the elderly: the Rotterdam study. *Arch Intern Med* 2000; 160: 2934- 2938.

<sup>60</sup> Newman AB, Siscovick DS, Manolio TA, *et al.* Ankle-arm index as a marker of atherosclerosis in the Cardiovascular Health Study. Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS) Collaborative Research Group. *Circulation* 1993; 88: 837 -845.

<sup>61</sup> Effect of intensive diabetes management on macrovascular events and the risk factors in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. *Am J Cardiol* 1995; 75: 894- 903.

<sup>62</sup> UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulfonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complication in patients with type 2 diabetes. (UKPDS 33). *Lancet* 1998; 352: 837-853.

<sup>63</sup> Pomrehn P, Duncan P, Weissfeld L, *et al.* The association of dyslipoproteinemia with symptoms and signs of peripheral arterial disease. The Lipid Research Clinics Program Prevalence Study. *Circulation* 1986; 73( suppl): I100- I107.

<sup>64</sup> National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation* 2002; 106: 3143 - 3421.

<sup>65</sup> Pedersen TR, Kjekshus J, Pyorala K, *et al.* Effect of simvastatin on ischemic signs and symptoms in the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *Am J Cardiol* 1998; 81: 333 -335.

<sup>66</sup> Taylor LM Jr, Moneta GL, Sexton GJ, Schuff RA, *et al.* Prospective blinded study of the relationship between plasma homocysteine and progression of symptomatic peripheral arterial disease. *J Vasc Surg* 1999; 29: 8 -19.

<sup>67</sup> Bostom AG, Shemin D, Lapane KL, *et al.* Hyperhomocysteinemia, hyperfibrinogenemia, and lipoprotein (a) excess in maintenance dialysis patients. A matched case-control study. *Atherosclerosis* 1996; 125: 91-101.

<sup>68</sup> Manns BJ, Burgess ED, Hyndman ME, Parsons HG, *et al.* Hyperhomocysteinemia and the prevalence of atherosclerotic vascular disease in patients with end-stage renal disease. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 1999; 34: 669-677.

<sup>69</sup> Ridker PM, Cushman M, Stampfer MJ, Tracy RP, Hennekens CH. Plasma concentration of C-reactive protein and the risk of developing peripheral vascular disease. *Circulation* 1998; 97: 425 -428.

<sup>70</sup> Stevinkel P, Heimburger O, Paultre L, Jogestrand T. Strong association between malnutrition, inflammation and atherosclerosis in chronic renal failure. *Kidney Int.* 1999; 55: 1899-1911.

<sup>71</sup> Rostand SG, Drueke TB. Parathyroid hormone, vitamin D and cardiovascular disease in chronic renal failure. *Kidney Int.* 1999; 56: 383 -392.

<sup>72</sup> Bommer J, Strohbeck E, Goerich J, Bahner M, Zuna I. Arteriosclerosis in dialysis patients. *Int J Artif Organs* 1996; 19: 638- 644.

<sup>73</sup> Goodman WG, Goldin J, Kuizon BD, Yoon C, *et al.* Coronary artery calcification in young adults with end-stage renal disease who are undergoing dialysis. *N Engl J Med* 2000; 342: 1478- 1483.

<sup>74</sup> Nishizawa Y, Shoji T, Kawagishi T, Morii H. Atherosclerosis in uremia. Possible roles of hyperparathyroidism and intermediate density lipoprotein accumulation. *Kidney Int.* 2000; suppl 62: S90 -S92.

<sup>75</sup> Papamichael CM, Lekakis JP, Stamatelopoulos KS, *et al.* Ankle-brachial index as a predictor of the extent of coronary atherosclerosis and cardiovascular events in patients with coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol* 2000; 86:615-618.

<sup>76</sup> Stoffers J, Kaiser V, Kester A, Schouten H, Knottererus A. Peripheral arterial occlusive disease in general practice: the reproducibility of the ankle-arm systolic pressure ratio. *Scand J Prim Health Care* 1991; 9(2): 109-114.

<sup>77</sup> Fiegleson HS, Criqui MH, Fronek A, Langer RD, Molgaard CA. Screening for peripheral arterial disease: The sensitivity, specificity, and predictive value for non-invasive tests in a defined population. *Am J Epidemiol* 1994; 140:526-534.

<sup>78</sup> Society For Vascular Medicine And Biology (SVMB) And Society For Vascular Nursing (SVM). Peripheral Arterial Disease. Marker of Cardiovascular Risk. Manchester, Mass: SVMB/SVM; 1999.

<sup>79</sup> Sikkink CJ, Van Asten WN, Van't Hof MA, Langen H, Van der Vliet JA. Decreased ankle/brachial indices in relation to morbidity and mortality in patients with peripheral arterial disease. *Vas Med* 1997; 2: 169-173.

<sup>80</sup> Leng GC, Fowkes FGR. The Edinburgh Claudication Questionnaire: An improved version of the WHO/Rose questionnaire for use in epidemiologic surveys. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1992; 45: 1101-1109

<sup>81</sup> Ludbrook J, Clarke AM, McKenzie JK. Significance of absent ankle pulses. *Br Med J* 1962; I: 1724-1726.

<sup>82</sup> Criqui MH, Fronek A, Klauber MR, Barrett-Connor E, Gabriel S. The sensitivity, specificity, and predictive value of traditional clinical evaluation of peripheral arterial disease: Results from non-invasive testing in a defined population. *Circulation* 1985; 71:516-522

<sup>83</sup> Rose GA. The diagnosis of ischaemic heart pain and intermittent claudication in field surveys. Bull WHO 1962; 27: 645 - 658.

<sup>84</sup> Leng GC, Fowkes FGR. The Edinburgh Claudication Questionnaire: an improved version of the WHO/Rose Questionnaire for use in epidemiological surveys. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1992; 45: 1101 – 1109

<sup>85</sup> Daniel WW. Biostatistics: A Foundation for Analysis in the Health Sciences.7<sup>th</sup> edition. 1999. New York: John Wiley and Sons.

<sup>86</sup> Cockcroft D, Gault M. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. *Nephron* 1976; 16: 31-41.

<sup>87</sup> Dubois and Dubois. Formula for calculation of body surface area. Arch Intern Med 1916; 17: 863.

<sup>88</sup> World Health Organization - International society for hypertension. J Hypertension 1999; 17: 151-183.

<sup>89</sup> Spencer K. Analytical reviews in clinical biochemistry: the estimation of creatinine. *Ann Clin Biochem* 1986; 23:1-25.

<sup>90</sup> Gochman N, Schmitz JN. Application of a new peroxide indicator reaction to the specific automated determination of glucose with glucose oxidase. *Clin Chem* 1972; 18: 943-950.

<sup>91</sup> Stem EA, Myers GL. Lipids, Lipoproteins and Apoliproproteins. In: Burtis CA, Ashword ER, eds. Tietz Textbook of Clinical Chemistry, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, USA: W.B Saunders & Co. 1998; 1002 - 93.

<sup>92</sup> Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS.Estimation of the concentration of low density lipoprotein in plasma without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clin Chem* 1972; 18: 499-501.

<sup>93</sup> World Health Organization. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Report of a WHO consultation. Part 1: Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 1999.

<sup>94</sup> Nuorti JP, Butler JC, Farley MM, *et al.* Cigarette smoking and invasive pneumococcal disease. *N. Engl J. Med* 2000; 342:681-689.

<sup>95</sup> Bommer J. Prevalence and socio-economic aspects of chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol. Dial Transplant.* 2002; 17 (suppl 11): 8-12.

<sup>96</sup> Kayima J.K: Scope of Renal Disease in East Africa. AFRAN Workshop Lecture Notes. Oct - Nov 2000.

<sup>97</sup> King H, Aubert RE, Herman WH. Global burden of diabetes, 1995 – 2025: prevalence, numerical estimates and projections. *Diabetes Care* 1998; 21: 1414 -1431.

<sup>98</sup> O'Hare AM, Bertenthal D, Shlipak MG, *et al.* Impact of renal insufficiency on mortality in advanced lower extremity peripheral arterial disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2005; 16: 514-519.

<sup>99</sup> Vaghela V.P. Cardiovasular risk factors associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus as seen at the Kenyatta National Hospital. M.Med Dissertation 2001 (CHS, UON, Dept of Medicine).

<sup>100</sup> Blankenhorn DH, Azen S, Crawford DW, *et al.* Effects of colestipol-niacin therapy on human femoral atherosclerosis. *Circulation.* 1991; 83: 438-447.

<sup>101</sup> Farbakhsh K, Kasiske BL. Dyslipidemias in patients who have chronic kidney disease. *Med Clin N Am.* 2005; 89: 689-699.

	15. APPENDIX I - SCREENING PROFORMA
	Study No:
	Name:
	Age (Years):
	Hospital No.:
	DOB:
4	Contact Details: P.O. Box
	Tel. No.:
	Place of work:
	Year of diagnosis of renal dysfunction
	Aetiology of renal dysfunction
	DEMOGRAPHICS
3	1. Gender 1 = Male 2 = Female
2	2. Marital status
	1=Single 2=Married 3=Divorced 4=Widowed 5=Separated
3	3. Usual residence
4	Usual occupation
	1 = self employed 2 = employed 3 = unemployed 4 = retired
	5 = training/student
5	. Level of education
	1 = None 2 = Primary school 3 = Secondary school 4 = Tertiary level 5 = other (specify)

# ELIGIBILITY

1. Are you willing to participate in the study:

THE PREVALENCE OF PERIPHERAL ARTERIAL DISEASE USING THE ANKLE-BRACHIAL INDEX AMONG PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE AT THE KENYATTA NATIONAL HOSPITAL?

2. Have you ever been told by a doctor that you have any one of the following?

- Blockage of lower limb arteries legs confirmed by arteriography or vascular Doppler
- Surgery- stenting or amputation for blocked limb arteries.
- Are you willing to return on a different day when you are fasted for blood tests? 1 = YES 2 = NO

# Laboratory Tests

Previous serum creatinine (umol/L)
Previous creatinine clearance (ml/min)
Current serum creatinine (umol/L)
Calculated creatinine clearance (ml/min)
Previous urinalysis (proteinuria)
Current urinalysis (proteinuria)
CKD Stage
FOR OFFICIAL USE
Recruited 1 = YES 2 = NO

# 15. APPENDIX II - STUDY PROFORMA

Name: Date: Date:	IP No.
DOB (month, year)	Age (years)
Year of diagnosis of renal dysfunction	
Aetiology of renal dysfunction	3
1 = Diabetic nephropathy	
2 = Hypertensive nephropathy	
3 = Chronic glomerulonephritis	
4 = Obstructive uropathy	
5 = Polycystic kidney disease	
6 = Other (specify)	
DEMOGRAPHICS	
1. Gender 1 = Male 2 = Female	Э
2. Marital status	
1=Single 2=Married 3=Divorced	d 4=Widowed 5=Separated
3. Usual residence	
4. Usual occupation	
1 = self employed 2 = employed	3 = unemployed 4 = retired
5 = training/student	
5. Level of education	
1 = None $2 = Primary school 3 =$	Secondary school

4 = Tertiary level	5 = other (specify)	
--------------------	---------------------	--

# CHRONIC ILLNESS



1 = Been told by a doctor that you have coronary heart disease?

	2 =	= Hea	art atta	ack
--	-----	-------	----------	-----



3 = Angina pectoris (chest pain due to insufficient blood flow to

the heart)

4 = Coronary	bypass	surgery
--------------	--------	---------

- 5 = Coronary angioplasty (ballooning)
- 6 = Been told by a doctor that you have abdominal aortic aneurysm
  - 7 = Transient ischemic attacks (transitory strokes)
- 8 = Blockage of carotid artery

9 = Stroke

# FAMILY HISTORY

Did or does any of your relatives suffer from diabetes? 9.

	1 = YES 2 = NO		
	Father Mother Brother/sister Children		
	Other (specify)		
10.	Did or does any of your relatives suffer from hypertension?		
	1 = YES 2 = NO		
	Father Mother Brother/sister Children		
	Other (specify)		
11.	Did or does any of your relatives suffer from kidney disease?		
	1 = YES 2 = NO		
	Father Mother Brother/sister Children		
	Other (specify)		
12.	Did any of your first-degree relatives (father, mother, brothers, sisters or children) suffer from heart attack, stroke or sudden death? If a matrix relative before 55 years / female relative before 65 years. 1 = YES $2 = NO$	ale	
CLAU	IDICATION QUESTIONNAIRE		
13.	Do you get a pain or discomfort in your leg(s) when you walk?		ан 19
	1 = YES 2 = NO		2 42
	If 'NO', stop here		
14.	Does this pain ever begin when you are standing still or sitting?		
	1 = YES 2 = NO		
		55	
	10. 11. 12. 13.	1 = YES       2 = NO         Father       Mother       Brother/sister       Children         Other (specify)	1 = YES 2 = NO   Father Mother   Brother/sister Children   Other (specify)

15.	Do you get it if you walk uphill c	or hurry?	
	1 = YES 2 = NO		
16.	Do you get it if you walk at an ordinary pace on the level?		
	1 = YES 2 = NO		
17.	What happens to it if you stand	still?	
	1 = usually continues for more t	han 10 minutes	6
	2 = usually disappears in 10 mi	nutes or less.	
18.	Where do you get this pain of X on the diagrams below:	or discomfort?	Mark the place(s) with an
	Front		Back
	Intermittent claudication	1 = YES	2 = NO
	SMOKING HABITS		
19.	Do you smoke cigarettes now?		
	1 = YES, regularly 2 = 1	NO	<u>,</u>
20.	On average how many cigarette	es do you smok	ke per day?
	Cigarettes /day.		
21.	Did you ever smoke cigarettes	regularly in the	past?
	1 = YES, regularly $2 = 1$	O	
	a) When did you stop smok	ing cigarettes r	egularly? Year
	If in the last 12 months		

	1 = less than 1 month ago	2 = 1-6 months ago
	3 = 6-12 months ago	
22.	What is the highest average daily nur	mber of cigarettes you have ever
	smoked for as long as a year?	Cigarettes /day.
23.	For how many years have you been smo	oking cigarettes? Years.
24.	Smoking status	
1=Cu	rrent Smoker 2= Former Smoker	3= Non –Smoker
AL	COHOL INTAKE	
25.	Do you drink alcohol?	
	1 = YES 2 = NO	
	CURRENT MEDICATIONS	
Are yo	ou currently on any of the following medic	cations?
26.	Drugs to lower blood sugar (oral/injectal	ole).
	1 = YES 2 = NO	
	Drug Dose	Duration
27.	Blood pressure lowering drugs	
	1 = YES 2 = NO	
	Drug Dose	Duration
28.	Blood lipid-lowering drugs.	
	1 = YES 2 = NO	
	Drug Dose	Duration
		·
	-	
29.	Anti-platelet drugs (aspirin/clopidogrel)	
	1 = YES 2 = NO	
	Drug Dose	Duration
	· · · ·	
PHYS	SICAL EXAMINATION	

30.	Height (cm)
31.	Weight (kg)
32.	BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )
33. 34.	BSA (m <sup>2</sup> ) mmHg 2 <sup>nd</sup> BP reading mmHg
	Average of 2 BP readings mmHg.
35.	ABI results





38.	Abdomen		
	Abdominal bruits 1 = Present 2 = Absent		
39.	Feet		
	Ulcers/gangrene 1 = YES 2 = NO		
40.	Neurological Exam		
	Stroke 1 = YES 2 = NO		
LAB. I	RESULTS		
Creatinine (umol/L)			
Creati	nine clearance (ml/min)		
Corrected creatinine clearance (ml/min/1.73m <sup>2)</sup>			

Serum lipid profile	
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	
HDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	
LDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	

Fasting blood sugar (mmol/L)

# Urinalysis

Protein

CKD Stage

# 15. APPENDIX III - CONSENT EXPLANATION

My name is Dr Maritim. I am a postgraduate student in Internal Medicine. I am conducting a study: -

1. To assess the prevalence of peripheral arterial disease in patients with chronic kidney disease using the ankle-brachial index.

2. To assess the cardiovascular risk factors associated with peripheral arterial disease in patients with chronic kidney disease.

If you agree to join in this study, we expect the following: -

- 1. Sign a consent form.
- 2. Be required to answer several questions as shown in the study proforma.
- 3. Undergo a general physical, cardiovascular and neurological exam including measurement of your blood pressure, weight and height.
- Be done measurement of brachial and ankle systolic blood pressure using a hand-held Doppler device. It is safe and painless.
- 5. Be required to give 10 ml of a mid-stream specimen of urine.
- 6. Be required to come fasted on a follow-up visit for blood tests.
- Be withdrawn 10 ml of blood by venepuncture. They will feel slight pain by the needle prick.

By participating in the study you will benefit by: -

- 1. Having all the above examinations and procedures done free of charge.
- 2. A copy of the results of these tests done shall be availed in your file and the doctor will be informed of these results.
- 3. You will receive free interventional advice and appropriate management.

You can withdraw from this study without loosing any benefits or quality of management of your medical problem being affected.

In case you have any questions related to this study you can contact the following: -

Dr Maritim (Principal Investigator) Tel 0733-729963.

# 15. APPENDIX IV - CONSENT FORM

I ....., after reading the consent explanation form and having been explained to by Dr. Maritim (The Principal Investigator) do voluntarily agree to take part in this research study on THE PREVALENCE OF PERIPHERAL ARTERIAL DISEASE USING THE ANKLE-BRACHIAL INDEX AMONG PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE AT THE KENYATTA NATIONAL HOSPITAL. I am also aware that I can withdraw from this study without losing any benefits or quality of management of my medical problem being affected.

SIGNED: .....

THUMBPRINT.....

WITNESS .....

DATED .....

MEDICAL LIBRARY